### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-01939

#### MONA CATES

APPELLANT/CROSS APPELLEE

v.

ELIZABETH SWAIN

APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF TATE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, CHANCELLOR PERCY L. LYNCHARD, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS APPELLEE**

**Oral Argument Requested** 

SUBMITTED BY:

Jonathan S. Masters, MSB Holcomb Dunbar, PA P.O. Drawer 707 Oxford, MS 38665-0707 Telephone: (662) 234-8775 Fax: (662) 238-7552

Pro Hac Vice Robert M. Stephenson Locke Lord Bissell & Liddell LLP 111 South Wacker Drive Chicago, IL 60606 Telephone: (312) 443-0439 Fax: (312) 896-6439

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT/ CROSS APPELLEE

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether Mississippi Public Policy Against Homosexual Relationships, As Set Forth In Mississippi Constitutional, Statutory and Case Law, Bars A Woman Who Participated In A Five Year Lesbian Relationship From Receiving, Upon The Dissolution Of The Lesbian Relationship, Her Financial Contributions To Promote, Facilitate And Maintain The Lesbian Relationship And One-Half Interest In Personal Property And Real Estate Purchased During the Lesbian Relationship By The Other Participating Woman.

2. Whether Mississippi Courts Can Utilize The Doctrine of "Unjust Enrichment" To Disguise A Property Settlement For A Participant In A Homosexual Relationship Upon The Dissolution Of The Relationship So As To Avoid The Proscription Of Mississippi Public Policy Against Homosexual Relationships And The Promotion, Facilitation And Maintenance Of Those Relationships.

3. Whether The Doctrine Of Unjust Enrichment Requires The Chancery Court To Make An Accounting Of All Financial Contributions Made By Each Party To A Homosexual Relationship For The Promotion, Facilitation And Maintenance Of The Relationship Before Determining Whether A Party To The Homosexual Relationship Has Been Unjustly Enriched By The Other Party Upon Dissolution Of The Homosexual Relationship.

4. Whether The Chancery Court Erroneously Awarded Plaintiff Swain \$44,995 By Finding That Plaintiff Swain, Upon Dissolution Of Her Homosexual Relationship With Defendant Cates, Unjustly Enriched Defendant Cates During Their Five Year Lesbian Relationship By Making Contributions To Promote, Facilitate And Maintain The Relationship In Excess Of The Contributions Made By Defendant Cates.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Elizabeth Swain ("Swain") filed a civil Complaint against Mona Cates ("Cates") in the Chancery Court of Tate County, Mississippi on June 13, 2006. R. 011-015; R. Exc. VI. The Complaint alleged that Swain co-habitated with Cates "at all times prior to" September, 2005; that Swain and Cates were partners and that "at all times [Swain and Cates] enjoyed a confidential and fiduciary relationship between them." R. 012. According to the Complaint Swain and Cates entered into "several joint ventures" during their co-habitation involving "joint ownership of a 2002 Volkswagen Cabrio, two Chihuahua dogs, and an E-Trade Account." R. 012. In addition, Swain and Cates purportedly "entered into an agreement" during their co-habitation where Swain would invest proceeds from the sale of real property partially owned by her in Florida towards purchases of real property in Washington and Mississippi "in order to provide both Swain and Cates with a residence." Finally the Complaint alleged that Swain "contributed substantial monies, materials and labor into the real properties in Washington and Mississippi. *Id.* 

As a result of the alleged agreements and monies spent, the Complaint sought imposition of a constructive and/or resulting trust against Cates, compensation for Swain's alleged interest in the alleged personal property and divestment of Cates' interest in the alleged Mississippi real estate in accordance with Swain's alleged interest. Alternatively, the Complaint sought the imposition of a lien upon the Mississippi property alleged therein "in the amount of monies, materials and labor invested by" Swain. R. 013-014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "R" followed by a referenced number refers to Record Citations. "Tr." followed by a referenced number refers to pages in the trial transcript. "R. Exc." followed by a number refers to items in the Record Excerpts accompanying this Brief.

#### **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW**

On August 27, 2007 Cates moved to dismiss Swain's Complaint. R. 022-059. Cates, in part, based her Motion to Dismiss on the ground that the cause of action alleged in the Complaint contravened Article 14, Section 263A of the Mississippi Constitution which bars the enforcement of asserted rights arising from a homosexual relationship, Section 93-1-1(2) of the Mississippi statutory code which, like the Mississippi Constitution, forbids the enforcement of asserted rights arising from a homosexual relationship and this Court's opinion in *Davis v. Davis*, 643 So.2d 931 (Miss. 1994), barring equitable relief based upon an alleged oral agreement arising from a common law marriage between a man and a woman. *Id.* 

Swain opposed Cates' Motion to Dismiss. R. 060-073. In doing so, she argued that "the establishment of a homosexual marriage is not an issue . . . nor is it a prerequisite to [her] claims." R. 062. Rather, according to Swain, the only issues raised by her Complaint involved "a constructive and/or resulting trust and unjust enrichment." *Id.* Significantly, Swain never denied in her opposition that the co-habitation alleged in her Complaint involved a homosexual relationship with Cates or that her alleged "confidential and fiduciary relationship" with Cates arose and entirely was based on her homosexual relationship with Cates. R. 060-073.

On October 3, 2007, the Chancery Court denied Cates' Motion to Dismiss. It stated in material part:

Counsel for the defendant is correct that the Mississippi Constitution prohibits homosexual marriage, and that the appropriate case law, particularly *Davis v. Davis*, prohibits unmarried persons from seeking equitable relief by way of palimony or otherwise. However, although Mississippi law does prohibit homosexual relationships, it does not prohibit homosexuals from entering into joint ventures.

\* \* \*

... [E]ven though homosexual marriages and homosexual activity are prohibited by the Mississippi Constitution, as well as the laws,

statutes of the State of Mississippi, there is nothing that would prohibit homosexuals from entering into joint ventures such as this. Certainly, there can be no equitable relief based on that relationship as there would be in a lawful marriage between husband and wife in the state. However, this Court has jurisdiction ... to determine whether or not a constructive trust or any equitable relief by joint venture or otherwise with respect to the real or personal property in question would be allowed.

R. 088-089; R. Exc. III and IV. In other words, in denying Cates' Motion to Dismiss, the Chancery Court held that Mississippi law barred it from granting equitable relief based on conduct arising from a homosexual relationship between two homosexuals, including any agreements purportedly made during or as part of the homosexual relationship. On the other hand, if a homosexual sought equitable relief based on an agreement with another homosexual, totally separate and apart from any homosexual relationship between the two, the Court had authority to provide equitable relief.

After the Chancery Court's denial of Cates' Motion to Dismiss, Cates and Swain completed pretrial discovery, including providing deposition testimony. Cates and Swain proceeded to trial on September 30, 2010.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>2</sup>**

#### I. THE RELATIONSHIP

For the first ten months of 2000 Swain lived by herself in Waukegan, Illinois. R. 0416-0417; Tr. 85. Swain served in the United States Navy stationed at the Great Lakes Naval Training Center. R. 0416; R. 0437; Tr. 85. While living in Waukegan, Illinois, Swain rented a single family residence. *Id.* 

In early 2000, Swain posted a profile of herself on the Internet soliciting a same sex partner. R. 020; R. 032-033; Tr. 84. In that profile, Swain described herself as single, identified

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The facts recited in the Statement of Facts come from the trial testimony and the exhibits admitted into evidence during the trial, including Swain's deposition testimony which was admitted unconditionally without objection as Swain's admissions. Tr. 83.

herself as a lesbian, stated she was seeking another female for a long term relationship and provided she was "[l]ooking for the right one!!" and sought "that special someone – I know you're out there somewhere." R. 032-33; R. 0420-0421; Tr. 84-85. Cates responded to Swain's Internet solicitation by, in part, sending Swain her profile. R. 0421-0424; Tr. 17. At the time Cates responded to Swain, Cates worked as an airline Captain. Tr. 127.

On April 8, 2000, Swain e-mailed Cates stating that she "really enjoyed [Cates'] profile!" R. 0423. Three days after the April 8 e-mail, Swain e-mailed Cates again stating, in part, "Sleep tight and just imagine me there. You've got your arms wrapped around me and we both drift off to a peaceful sleep." R. 0424. At the time of the April 11 e-mail, Swain had not met Cates. Tr. 18. They met for the first time on "Easter of 2000." Easter in 2000 fell on April 23. Tr. 18.

After meeting Cates, Swain peppered Cates with e-mails professing her love for Cates. Thus, on May 7, 2000, Swain e-mailed Cates stating, in part, "I'm in love for the first time in my life . . . I love you more than anything else . . . I can't imagine living without you . . . You're my life." R. 0425-0426. Then, after two additional amorous e-mails, Swain e-mailed Cates on May 14 stating "I'm enamored with you; sweet on you; keen on you; set on you; stuck on you; sold on you; taken with you; smitten with you; hooked on you; charmed by you; enchanted by you; fascinated with you; totally and utterly in love with you.!" R. 0428-0429. By May of 2000, Swain and Cates established a sexual relationship. R. 0430; Tr. 18.

To Swain, however, her newly formed lesbian relationship with Cates constituted much more than just a sexual relationship. On May 22, 2000, Swain e-mailed Cates telling her "You are my world . . . And more importantly you are my future and it never looked brighter, darling. I can honestly tell you that I have never wanted anything more than I want you <u>as my wife</u>." R. 0431. (Emphasis added.) Then, shortly after this e-mail, Swain e-mailed Cates on the same day addressing the e-mail "<u>My Wife</u>" and professing "To the woman who has stolen my heart, I have a dream that we will never part. You entered my world and swept me off my feet, now I walk with you to life's perfect beat. Hand in hand we'll journey through life, <u>when you say I do and</u> <u>become my wife</u>." R. 0432. (Emphasis added.) On June 10, 2000, Swain again characterized her desires for Cates, stating in another e-mail "I want you to know how proud I am to have you as my lover, my significant other and soon my wife." R. 0433. In short, Swain considered her relationship with Cates a matrimonial relationship.

Beyond matrimony, however, Swain wanted her relationship with Cates to last forever and she believed that with Cates, she had established "a long-term love relationship" with "the love of [her] life." R. 0434-0435. Thus, Swain e-mailed Cates on June 24, 2000 stating, in material part, "I have fallen so deeply in love with you that nothing else matters. You have become my life. When I sit and think about the future and you're always a part of my thoughts. I know that we will be next to each other for eternity." R. 0435. Later in a card Swain again told Cates that she loved her, believing that they had established a "bond that will never be broken." R. 0560. In Swain's mind, her co-habitation with Cates formed a confidential and fiduciary relationship between them that Swain wanted and expected to last forever. R. 0557-0558. Contrary to her expectations, however, Swain admitted that her "lesbian relationship" with Cates ended in 2006. R. 0544; R. 0560-0562.<sup>3</sup>

### II. THE FLORIDA RESIDENCE

.

In late 2000 the Navy transferred Swain to the Naval Station in Pensacola Florida. Tr. 86. Swain spoke to Cates about the transfer as early as May 2000 just after meeting her. R. 036-037; Tr. 18; 86. In her discussions with Cates, Swain spoke of purchasing a single family residence, something she never had done in the past. Tr. 85-86. Pursuant to their discussions, both Swain and Cates looked at houses in the Pensacola, Florida area. Tr. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Swain's e-mails appear in R. Exc. V.

For a prolonged period of time after first meeting Cates, Swain told Cates she was single and a committed lesbian, soliciting female partners on the Internet. R. 0443-0444. During the time that they were looking for a Pensacola residence, however, Swain disclosed to Cates that she was "married" to a George Dean. Tr. 18; Tr. 129-130. According to Swain, Dean lived in Harpers Valley, West Virginia "with a friend," was not in the military, was unemployed and last lived with Swain in 1995. R. 0435-0436; R. 0440; R. 0442; Tr. 87-88. Her marriage to Dean qualified Swain for more financial aid from the military to support her living off base. Tr. 88-89. In turn, the marriage qualified Dean to receive military health benefits as a service member's spouse. Tr. 88. Thus, from the Navy's perspective it believed Swain was married to a man. R. 0498; Tr. 88-89.

Swain purchased a single family residence in Pensacola, Florida in December, 2000. R. 0439; Tr. 86. She intended the residence "as a place for both [her] and . . . Cates to reside." R. 0437. Cates, however, would be a part-time resident. Cates' job as an airline Captain kept her away from Pensacola for long periods of time. R. 0460. Only Swain lived in the Pensacola residence seven days a week. R. 0461.

In 2001, the first year in which she resided in the Pensacola residence, Swain's annual income amounted to \$32,400. R. 0480. That income included \$4,000 she received in financial aid from the military to live off base based, in part, on her marriage to Dean. R. 0480-0481; Tr. 88.

Swain purchased the Pensacola residence for \$91,760. Tr. 86-87. Of that amount, she financed \$89,760 through obtaining a mortgage from the military through the Veteran's Administration. Tr. 20; Tr. 86. Swain's and Dean's name appeared on the military mortgage. R. 0440; Tr. 87. Cates' name did not and could not appear on the mortgage because of Swain's "marital status." The military believed that Swain was married to Dean, not involved in a

homosexual relationship with another woman. R. 0498; Tr. 20. Cates, however, financed the remainder of the purchase price for the Pensacola residence by issuing a \$2,000 check to Caldwell Baker in payment of earnest money. Tr. 19; Tr. 86-87. Swain provided no monies of her own to purchase the Pensacola residence. R. 0448; Tr. 89. She could not afford to make any payments. Tr. 180.

The deed for the Pensacola residence listed Swain as the sole owner. R. 0450; Tr. 22; Tr. 89. Though Dean's name appeared on the military mortgage, he made no payments on the mortgage. R. 0446. He never lived in the Pensacola residence. *Id.* Indeed, Dean never signed the mortgage. Rather, Swain signed the mortgage on his behalf. R. 0441. Swain considered herself the sole owner of the Pensacola residence. R. 0450; Tr. 89. Despite the fact that Cates actually provided cash money for the purchase of the Pensacola residence, Swain did not believe Cates had an ownership interest in the residence. R. 0449; Tr. 89. Similarly, Swain did not believe Dean had an ownership interest in the residence even though his name was on the mortgage which made him financially obligated for the payment of the mortgage. R. 0450; Tr. 89. When the residence was sold, Dean received no money from the sale. R. 0454.<sup>4</sup>

At the time Swain purchased the Pensacola residence, she had a personal bank account at Navy Federal Credit. Tr. 89-90. Similarly, Cates had a personal bank account at Union Planters Bank in Memphis, Tennessee. Tr. 90. As part of their discussions about Swain purchasing the Pensacola residence, however, Cates agreed to open an account at the People's First Community Bank in Pensacola, Florida. Tr. 180. In that way, Cates thought that she could track the money

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Swain claimed that Dean's name had to appear on the military mortgage from the Veteran's Administration because of Florida law. R. 0442; Tr. 87. Several uncontested facts undercut her contention. First, only Swain's name appears on the deed to the Pensacola residence. R. 0450; Tr. 22; Tr. 89. Had Florida law required Dean's name on the mortgage most certainly it would have required it on the deed. Moreover, Swain admitted her marital status to Dean prevented Cates from being on the mortgage. Tr. 20. Since the military believed Swain was married to Dean, it is far more probable that Dean's name had to appear on the military mortgage to continue the façade of Swain being married to Dean in order to get the mortgage. Clearly, Dean brought no financial backing for the mortgage. He was unemployed. R. 0440; Tr. 88.

she was providing Swain. Tr. 181. Both Swain's and Cates' name appeared on the account. Tr. 90. As a result, Swain was authorized to withdraw from the Florida account. Tr. 90. Only Cates contributed money to the account. Tr. 93.

Over the three year period Swain and Cates lived in the Pensacola residence, Cates deposited \$32,950 into the Florida account. Tr. 181. According to Swain, both she and Cates agreed that the Florida account would be used to pay living expenses associated with the Pensacola residence. R. 0547; Tr. 91-92. Not surprisingly, checks written on the Florida account reflect payments for such things as utilities, plumbers, pest control, taxes, telephone, furniture and television. R. 0458; R. 0460; Tr. 96-97; Tr. 182-83. In addition, both Swain and Cates made major capital improvements to the Pensacola residence, including remodeling two bathrooms and the kitchen, painting the entire interior of the house, renovating the backyard with new plantings and a sprinkler system and improving the electrical system in the residence. Tr. 26-27. The Florida account helped pay for these improvements. Tr. 26. The Florida account also shows checks issued to Swain's family members. Tr. 96. When the Florida account was closed upon the sale of the Pensacola residence, Cates, with Swain's agreement, received the \$3,580.71, that remained in the account and that originally came from Cates. Tr. 97; Tr. 188.

In addition to funding the payment of living expenses and capital improvements from the Florida account, Cates paid for other Florida expenses through credit card purchases. Tr. 183-184. Those expenses included the purchase of carpet, paint and materials for garden renovation. Tr. 184. These expenditures totaled approximately \$20,000. *Id.* 

Swain paid certain expenses attributable to the Pensacola residence from her personal Navy Federal Credit account. Thus, by way of example, she paid in 2001 \$10,246 in local tax payments, mortgage interest payments, real estate tax payments and federal tax payments. R. 0474-0476. She also paid in 2001 \$8,085.27 in mortgage principal payments and \$3,887.16 in

car note payments for a RAV4 she leased. R. 0477-0478; R. 0486. The total of the expense payments Swain paid left her with approximately \$10,000 from her annual income of \$32,400 to pay all other expenses, including but not limited to, food, clothing and gasoline. R. 0477-0478; R. 0480; R. 0486.

The month beginning balances in Swain's personal Navy Federal Credit account during the time she resided in the Pensacola residence reflect that monthly Swain ran low on money. The account read \$1,383.33 in October, 2001; \$671.90 in November, 2001; \$738.54 in December, 2001; \$528.21 in January, 2002; \$831.37 in February, 2002; \$682.67 in March, 2002; \$345.73 in April, 2002 and \$533.59 in May, 2002. Tr. 107-108. Swain attributed the low balances to her principal mortgage payments. Tr. 107. In any event, Swain clearly needed the money Cates provided her in the Florida account and in credit card purchases to support the Pensacola residence.

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