### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MONA CATES,

APPELLANT/CROSS APPELLEE

VS.

CAUSE NO: 2010-CA-01939

ELIZABETH SWAIN,

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

# REPLY BRIEF FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE CHANCERY COURT OF TATE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS:

John T. Lamar, Jr., (MSB LAMAR & HANNAFORD, P.A. Attorneys at Law 214 S. Ward St. Senatobia, MS 38668 Telephone: 1-662-562-6537

and

ł.

÷

1

David M. Slocum, Jr. (MSB SLOCUM LAW FIRM Attorneys at Law 329 Tate Street P.O. Box 249 Senatobia, MS 38668 Telephone: (662) 301-0035

NO ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MONA CATES,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW
B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
$\operatorname{ARGUMENT}$
A. STANDARD OF REVIEW
B. ISSUE #1: WHETHER A CONSTRUCTIVE AND/OR RESULTING TRUST EXISTED BETWEEN ELIZABETH SWAIN AND MONA CATES 9
C. ISSUE #2: WHAT IS AN EQUITABLE DIVISION OF THE ASSETS OF THE CONSTRUCTIVE AND/OR RESULTING TRUST 14
D. ISSUE #3: WHETHER MONA CATES WAS UNJUSTLY ENRICHED BY ELIZABETH SWAIN
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

\_

-

\_ -

- - -

.

·

5

r

÷

<u>Cases</u> Page
Allgood v. Allgood 473 So. 2d 416, 421 (Miss. 1985)
Allred v. Fairchild 785 So.2d 1064, 1067 (Miss. 2001)
Davis v. Davis 643 So.2d 931 (Miss. 1994)
In re Estates of Gates 876 So. 2d 1059, 1064 (Miss. App. 2004)
In re Estate of Hood 955 So.2d 943, 949 (Miss. App. 2007)
In re Estate of Horrigan 757 So.2d 165, 170 (Miss. 1999)
Koval v. Koval 576 So. 2d 134, 136 (Miss. 1991)
McNeil v. Hester 753 So.2d 1057, 1063 (Miss. 2000) 8, 9, 10
Mississippi Motor Finance, Inc. v. Thomas, 246 Miss. 14, 20, 149 So.2d 20, 23(1963)
Richardson v. Riley 355 So.2d 667, 668 (Miss. 1987)
Russell v. Douglas 138 So. 2d 730, 733 (Miss. 1962)
Sample v. Romine 193 Miss. 706, 9 So.2d 643 (1942)
Sanderson v. Sanderson 824 So.2d 623, 625 (Miss. 2002) 8-9
Sojourner v. Sojourner 247 Miss. 342, 153 So.2d 803, 807 (1963) 9, 10, 12
Thornhill v Thornhill 905 So.2d 747, 753 (Miss.Ct.App. 2004)

10
T U
14
8

, .

.

١

--

٩,

÷ .

1 *.* 

.

i

: | |

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUE S

The issues presented by the Cross-Appellant in this Appeal are:

- ISSUE # 1: WHETHER A CONSTRUCTIVE AND/OR RESULTING TRUST EXISTED BETWEEN ELIZABETH SWAIN AND MONA CATES.
- ISSUE #2: WHAT IS AN EQUITABLE DIVISION OF THE ASSETS OF THE CONSTRUCTIVE AND/OR RESULTING TRUST.
- ISSUE #3: WHETHER MONA CATES WAS UNJUSTLY ENRICHED BY ELIZABETH SWAIN.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

# A. NATURE OF CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

This appeal arises from an order rendered on September 30, 2010, and entered nunc pro tunc on October 25, 2010, in the Chancery Court of Tate County, Mississippi which found that the Defendant and/or Appellant/Cross-Appellee, Mona Cates (hereinafter "Cates"), was unjustly enriched and subsequently awarded the Plaintiff and/or Cross-Appellee, Elizabeth Swain (hereinafter "Swain"), judgment in the amount of \$44,995.00. а (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2). Further, the Order found that no constructive or resulting trust existed between Cates and Swain. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2). The Appellant/Cross-Appellee's Notice of Appeal was filed on November 24, 2010. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 1). The Appellee/Cross-Appellant's Notice of Cross Appeal was filed on November 29, 2010. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 1). The Designation of Record was filed on December 2, 2010. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 1).

On June 13, 2006, Swain filed her Complaint in the matter. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 1). In her Complaint, Swain prayed that the Court recognize that a constructive and/or resulting trust existed between Swain and Cates in regard to certain items of real and personal property. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 6). Additionally, Swain asked the court to

-1-

recognize Cates' conversion of certain items of personal property. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 6). Within her complaint, Swain asked that the Court either divest Cates of title to the property in accordance with Swain's interest in the property and vest the property in Swain in accordance with her interest, or impose a lien upon the property commensurate with the monies, materials and labor invested by Swain in the property due to the existence of the constructive and/or resulting trust and the conversion. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 6). In the alternative, Swain asked the Court to recognize that Cates was unjustly enriched by Swain. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab Finally, Swain sought attorney's fees and costs incurred due 6). to the necessity of filing suit in order to recover her proceeds from the trust or reimbursement for the sum which unjustly enriched (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 6). Cates.

In her Answer to Complaint and Amended Counter-claim, Cates sought repayment of loans made to Swain to allow her and her husband to purchase a home in the state of Florida, loans made to Swain to allow for her payment of a car lease, loans made to Swain for payment of living expenses and home improvements, and loans made to Swain for the purchase of two cars and the respective car insurance. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 1-6). Additionally, Cates counterclaimed for repayment of funds expended by Cates on a the trade-in value E-320 Mercedes and of the Mercedes. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 1-6). Cates also sought

-2-

compensation for alleged physical damage to her home in Mississippi, conversion of certain items of personal property, and loss of profits and resulting tax consequences from Swain's alleged partial liquidation of Cates' E-trade account. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 1-6). Finally, Cates sought punitive damages and attorney's fees. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 1-6).

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Elizabeth Swain and Mona Cates shared a loving, trusting, and cohabitative relationship for approximately six (6) years. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 7-31). Their relationship began on or about April 24, 2000, when Swain and Cates met and began dating. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 7). Their cohabitation started on or about December 29, 2000, when Swain purchased a house located at 5907 Strickland Place, Pensacola, Florida and Cates moved in with her. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 9 & 13). While living in the state of Florida, Swain paid the note on the house as well as the homeowner's insurance and ad valorem taxes. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2; and Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 14 & 26). During their time together in Florida, Cates assisted with the cost of groceries and with some of the repairs and maintenance around the house, but did not pay rent. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2; and Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 14 & 26). As is the case with many individuals involved in a trusting relationship, Swain and Cates established a joint bank account at Peoples First during their time together in

-3-

the state of Florida, in order to pay for needs around the house. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 14 & 26).

On or about September 12, 2003, Swain sold the house located at 5907 Strickland Place, Pensacola, Florida, and received proceeds from her sale of the property in the amount of \$32,855.86. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 32). In order to promote their joint venture and in continuation of their relationship, Swain wrote a certified check on September 18, 2003, to Mona L. Cates in the amount of \$34,000.00 in order to provide for the down payment on a home located at 2486 SE Tucci Place, Port Orchard, Washington.

(Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 32). Cates subsequently purchased the house located at 2486 SE Tucci Place, Port Orchard, Washington on September 26, 2003, for a purchase price of \$191,000.00, and a total gross amount due of \$194,493.58. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 47). Payment of the \$194,493.58 gross proceeds consisted of a loan in the amount of \$152,800.00, earnest money in the amount of \$2,500.00, a rate lock fee credit in the amount of \$600.00, and a down payment in the amount of \$38,593.58. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 47). The earnest money and the majority of the remainder of the down payment, which was approximately \$4,593.58 after accounting for the \$34,000.00 previously tendered by Swain, came from the parties' joint account with Peoples First.(Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 47).

Swain moved with Cates to the State of Washington where they continued their relationship and cohabitation. (Appellee/Cross-

-4-

Appellant's R., p. 27 & 30). In continuation of their joint ventures, Swain added Cates to her Navy Federal Account as a joint While residing in the state of owner in December of 2003. Washington, Swain purchased groceries, paid for the utilities, performed repairs and improvements to the Washington home, and incurred the costs of the repairs and improvements to the Washington home. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 30). Furthermore, Swain was the primary resident of the Washington home. (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 30). As her part of the bargain, Cates paid the note on the house as well as the homeowner's insurance and taxes. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2; and Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 30).

On or about September 19, 2005, Cates sold the house located at 2486 SE Tucci Place, Port Orchard, Washington for the contract sales price of \$300,000.00 with a credit for the payment of taxes in advance in the amount of \$576, and the following deductions: (1) settlement charges in the amount of \$21,712.51, (2) a loan payoff in the amount of \$134,340.98 and (3) payment of taxes in the amount (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2; of \$1,012.22. and Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 44). Cates received proceeds in the amount of \$143,511.12 from the sale of the home located at 2486 Tucci Place, Port Orchard, Washington. (Appellant/Cross-SE Appellee's R., Tab 2; and Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 44). The proceeds were subsequently invested into a home located at 1173 Silver Hills Drive, Senatobia, Tate County, Mississippi.

-5-

(Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2; and Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 46).

On September 22, 2005, Cates purchased a house located at 1173 Silver Hills Drive, Senatobia, Mississippi for a purchase price of due of \$355,394.53. \$350,000.00 and a total gross amount (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., and Appellee/Cross-Tab 2; Appellant's R., p. 46). Payment of the \$355,394.53 gross proceeds consisted of a loan in the amount of \$190,000.00, earnest money in the amount of \$10,000.00, a credit for proration of the ad valorem taxes in the amount of \$1,914.93, and a down payment in the amount (Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., 46). of \$153,379.60. р. Furthermore, Swain contributed \$5,000.00 to the closing costs on the purchase of the home in Mississippi. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2; and Appellee/Cross-Appellant's R., p. 43). Swain moved with Cates to the State of Mississippi where they continued their relationship and cohabitation. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2). While residing in the state of Mississippi, Swain performed repairs and improvements to the home and paid a portion of the utilities. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2). Cates paid the note on the house as well as the homeowner's insurance and taxes. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2). However, the parties time together in the state of Mississippi was short lived. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2).

In March of 2006, Swain and Cates relationship ended. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2). From September of 2003,

-6-

until March of 2006, Swain spent at least \$13,157.25 on repairs and maintenance and/or materials for repairs and maintenance to the Washington home and the Mississippi home. (Appellant/Cross-Appellee's R., Tab 2).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mississippi law clearly recognizes a constructive trust and/or resulting trust under certain circumstances. It is apparent that a constructive trust and/or resulting trust did in fact exist between Swain and Cates from at least May of 2000, until March of 2006. This fact is evidenced by their jointly owned accounts, their jointly titled vehicles, their shared efforts and resources in the purchase and improvements to real property, and their continued cohabitation over a span of nearly six (6) years and residences in three (3) separate states. After acknowledging the existence of this constructive trust, the next determination that must be made is an equitable division of the assets of this constructive and/or resulting trust. This inquiry should and would encompass any claims for conversion, repayment of loans, unjust enrichment, destruction and/or dissipation of property, and lost profits.

Under any approach taken toward an equitable division of the assets of the constructive and/or resulting trust, Swain is entitled to a minimum sum of \$76,755.56 plus her attorneys' fees and costs, which as of the beginning of trial had been incurred in the amount of \$12,531.42, or at least twenty-two percent (22%) interest in the property located at 1173 Silver Hills Drive,

-7-

Senatobia, Mississippi. As a result, this Court should award Swain a judgment against Cates in excess of \$76,755.56, plus tax Cates with the costs of Court, and award Swain reasonable attorneys' fees, or divest Cates of at least twenty-two percent (22%) interest in the real property located at 1173 Silver Hills Drive, Senatobia, Mississippi and vest said interest in Swain.

Finally, the facts of this matter clearly evidence the unjust enrichment of Cates by Swain as determined by the learned Chancellor. Article 14 Section 263A of the Mississippi Constitution has absolutely no application to the case at bar because the establishment of a homosexual marriage is not an issue before the court, nor is it a prerequisite to the plaintiff's claims. As a result, the court, at the very least, should affirm the decision of the chancellor. Additionally, the Court should tax the costs of Court to Cates and award Swain reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in this matter.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Mississippi appellate courts consider the decisions of chancellors under a limited standard of review. *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So.2d 1057, 1063 (Miss. 2000). The Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial credible evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was

- 8 -

manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or if the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So.2d 623, 625 (Miss. 2002). Even if the appellate court disagrees with the lower court on the finding of fact and might have arrived at a different conclusion, it is bound by the chancellor's findings unless manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. *Richardson v. Riley*, 355 So.2d 667, 668 (Miss. 1987).

The determination of the existence of a constructive trust is a matter of law and thus subject to de novo review. *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So.2d 1057, 1063 (Miss. 2000)

ISSUE # 1: WHETHER A CONSTRUCTIVE AND/OR RESULTING TRUST EXISTED BETWEEN ELIZABETH SWAIN AND MONA CATES.

Based upon the facts of this case, it is clear that a constructive and/or resulting trust existed between Swain and Cates regarding the real and personal property acquired during the course of their relationship. A constructive trust is one that arises by operation of law against one who, by fraud, actual or constructive, by duress or abuse of confidence, by commission of wrong, or by any form of unconscionable conduct, artifice, concealment, or questionable means, or who in any way against equity and good conscience, either has obtained or holds the legal right to property which he ought not, in

-9-

equity and good conscience, to hold and enjoy. Allred v. Fairchild, 785 So.2d 1064, 1067 (Miss. 2001); citing Sojourner v. Sojourner, 247 Miss. 342, 153 So.2d 803, 807 (1963). Such a trust arises by implication from the relationship and conduct of the parties and may be established by parol testimony notwithstanding the statute of frauds. In re Estate of Horrigan, 757 So.2d 165, 170 (Miss. 1999); citing Triplett v. Bridgeforth, 38 So.2d 756, 764 (Miss. 1949).

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